IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT

---

No. 20-0963

---

J. JESUS CARRERAS and LOS PRIMOS AUTO  
SALES, LLC d/b/a LOS PRIMOS AUTO SALES,

Petitioners-Appellants,

v.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,  
MOTOR VEHICLE DIVISION,

Respondents-Appellees.

---

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF POLK COUNTY  
HON. JEANIE VAUDT

---

FINAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS-APPELLANTS

---

THE WEINHARDT LAW FIRM  
Todd M. Lantz  
Elisabeth A. Archer  
2600 Grand Avenue, Suite 450  
Des Moines, IA 50312  
Telephone: (515) 244-3100  
tlantz@weinhardtlaw.com  
earcher@weinhardtlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR  
PETITIONERS-APPELLANTS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Department of Transportation correctly interpret the phrase “in connection with selling ... motor vehicles” in Iowa Code § 322.3(12) when it revoked the Appellants’ motor vehicle dealer license and reversed a contrary decision from an Administrative Law Judge?**

*Des Moines Area Reg’l Transit Auth. v. Young*, 867 N.W.2d 839  
(Iowa 2015)

*Doe v. Iowa Dep’t of Hum. Servs.*, 786 N.W.2d 853 (Iowa 2010)

*Extreme Auto Plaza, Inc. v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp.*, 2018 WL 3472197  
(Iowa Ct. App. July 18, 2018)

*Gardin v. Long Beach Mortg. Co.*, 661 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 2003)

*Gavin v. AT&T Corp*, 464 F.3d 634 (7th Cir. 2006)

*Grant v. Iowa Dep’t of Hum. Servs.*, 722 N.W.2d 169 (Iowa 2006)

*In re Perwin*, 287 A.2d 33 (N.J. 1972)

*In re Wilson’s Estate*, 202 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 1972)

*Irving v. Emp. Appeal Bd.*, 883 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 2016)

*Metro. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Fitchburg Mut. Ins. Co.*, 793 N.E.2d 1252  
(Mass. Ct. App. 2003)

*More v. State*, 880 N.W.2d 487 (Iowa 2016)

*Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc.*, 814 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 2012)

*State ex rel. Miller v. Cutty’s Des Moines Camping Club*, 694 N.W.2d 518  
(Iowa 2005)

*State v. Alexander*, 853 N.W.2d 295 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014)

*State v. Ates*, 377 S.E.2d 98 (S.C. 1989)

*State v. Miner*, 331 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa 1983)

*State v. Shorter*, 945 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2020)

*United States v. Jeffries*, 587 F.3d 690 (5th Cir. 2009)

*United States v. Regans*, 125 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 1997)

*United States v. Thompson*, 32 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 1994)

*United States v. Wyatt*, 102 F.3d 241 (7th Cir. 1996)

- 2. Was the Department of Transportation's characterization of Appellant Jesus Carreras' federal conviction for structuring currency deposits supported by substantial evidence?**

Iowa Code § 171.19(10)(f)

- 3. If the Department of Transportation's action is upheld, alternatively, does the five-year revocation period under Iowa Code § 322.3(12) run from the date of conviction, or is the revocation period tolled until this appeal concludes?**

*Evercom Sys., Inc. v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 805 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 2011)

*Freeman v. Grain Processing Corp.*, 848 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2014)

*In re A.J.M.*, 847 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2014)

*Noll v. Iowa Dist. Court for Muscatine Cty.*, 919 N.W.2d 232 Iowa 2018)

*State v. Mathias*, 936 N.W.2d 222 (Iowa 2019)

*United States v. Garduno-Trejo*, 395 F. App'x 321 (8th Cir. 2010)



## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court should retain this case because it presents substantial issues of first impression concerning the interpretation of Iowa Code § 322.3(12). No Iowa case has addressed that statute or resolved the issues in this case.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In this appeal Jesus Carreras (“Carreras”) and Los Primos Auto Sales, LLC (collectively the “Appellants”) seek judicial relief from the Iowa Department of Transportation’s (the “Department”) revocation of their motor vehicle dealer license. They appeal from the district court order denying judicial relief under Iowa Code Chapter 17A and from a subsequent order tolling the license revocation until the conclusion of this appeal.<sup>1</sup>

In April 2019, the Department issued an official notice that it was revoking the Appellants’ motor vehicle dealer license based on Carreras’ federal conviction for structuring currency deposits. Appendix (“App.”)

128. The revocation was based upon the following statute:

A person who has been convicted of a fraudulent practice, has been convicted of three or more violations of section 321.92, subsection 2, or section 321.99, has been convicted of three or more violations of subsection 16 of this section in the previous

---

<sup>1</sup> The two appeals were consolidated under Case No. 20-1298.

three-year period, or has been convicted of any other indictable offense in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles, in this state or any other state, shall not for a period of five years from the date of conviction be an owner, salesperson, employee, officer of a corporation, or representative of a licensed motor vehicle dealer or represent themselves as an owner, salesperson, employee, officer of a corporation, or representative of a licensed motor vehicle dealer.

Iowa Code § 322.3(12) (emphasis supplied).

The Appellants timely appealed the license revocation and requested a hearing. App. 120. A hearing was scheduled before Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Joseph Ferrentino on August 23, 2019. App. 117–19. The ALJ received briefs and exhibits, App. 36–117, as well as testimony from several witnesses and oral argument on the legal issues. *See generally* App. 129–190.

On September 10, 2019, the ALJ issued a proposed decision, which concluded that the Department misinterpreted Iowa Code § 322.3(12). App. 28–35. After surveying and thoughtfully considering many legal and non-legal authorities bearing on the meaning of the key phrase in this case—“in connection with”—the ALJ concluded that Carreras’ conviction for structuring was not “in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles.” *Id.* Accordingly, the conviction did not disqualify him

from holding a motor vehicle dealer license, and the Department's only basis for revoking the Appellants' license was invalid.

The Department requested that its own director review and reverse the ALJ's proposed decision. App. 22–27. In making this request (to itself), the Department stated that the facts in this case are undisputed and that this case presents a legal question. App. 22–23. The Appellants requested that the Department allow the proposed decision to become the agency's final decision. App. 10–17. The Appellants also asked to present oral argument to the Department pursuant to Iowa Code § 17A.15. App. 18–21. The Department's reviewing officer denied that request, however, citing a lack of time and manpower. App. 9.

On October 28, 2019, the Department issued a "Ruling on Appeal," which reversed the ALJ's proposed decision and reinstated the revocation of the Appellants' motor vehicle dealer license. App. 6–8. The Ruling on Appeal was the final agency action for purposes of judicial review. In the Ruling on Appeal, the Department accepted the ALJ's findings of fact but disagreed as to the legal conclusions. Specifically, the Department endorsed a "broad interpretation" of the phrase "in connection with," although the

Ruling on Appeal did not actually provide a definition or interpretation of that phrase. *Id.*

On October 31, 2019, the Appellants filed a Petition for Judicial Review in the Iowa District Court for Polk County. App. 191–200. The Appellants also filed a motion to stay enforcement of the Department’s final action (i.e., the license revocation). App. 204–06. The Department resisted the Appellants’ motion to stay, but the Department agreed to stay enforcement of the revocation until the district court resolved the Appellants’ motion to stay. On March 24, 2020, the district court granted a temporary stay of the license revocation until the district court proceedings were complete. App. 236–39.

The parties submitted written briefs and presented arguments to the district court. App. 217–235, 240–255. On July 14, 2020, the district court issued an Order on Judicial Review, which denied and dismissed the Appellants’ Petition for Judicial Review. App. 256–65.

On July 20, 2020, the Appellants filed a notice of appeal from the Order on Judicial Review. App. 273–75. That same day, the Appellants separately filed a motion asking the district court to extend the temporary stay of final agency action until the conclusion of the Appellants’ appeal to

this Court. App. 266–72. The Department resisted the Appellants’ motion to extend the stay, but again it agreed not to enforce the license revocation until the district court could decide the motion. App. 276–79. The Department also asked, insofar as the stay was granted, that the time during which agency enforcement was stayed be “tolled in its entirety” so that the five-year license revocation period under Iowa Code § 322.3(12) would commence at the conclusion of all appeals. App. 278. The Appellants objected to the Department’s request to “toll,” or extend, the five-year period under section 322.3(12). App. 280–86.

On September 20, 2020, the district court granted Appellants’ motion and stayed the Department’s license revocation until the conclusion of the appeal to this Court. App. 294–300. However, the district court also ordered that the five-year license revocation at issue in this case “is tolled in its entirety until this matter is finally adjudicated.” App. 298. On October 8, 2020, the Appellants filed a notice of appeal from the tolling order. App. 301–02.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The administrative record established these undisputed facts: For thirteen years, Jesus Carreras (“Carreras”) has owned and operated a motor

vehicle dealership in Des Moines called Los Primos Auto Sales (“Los Primos”). App. 146–48 (Hrg. Tr. 18:19–20:6).

On multiple occasions from January 2014 through April 2017, customers paid cash for vehicles purchased at Los Primos. After these sales were complete, Carreras or his wife, Martha, who handled more of the paperwork necessary to run the business, deposited the cash into bank accounts held by Los Primos. App. 107, 154–55 (8/23/2019 Hrg. Tr. 26:4–27:19). Some deposits were structured intentionally to be less than \$10,000 in order to avoid the financial institutions’ obligations to file currency transaction reports for cash transactions in excess of \$10,000. App. 107.

The practice of structuring deposits, which began with a prior owner’s wife, did not help or assist Carreras or Los Primos in any way. App. 159–60 (Hrg. Tr. 31:9–32:3). The practice did not impact, facilitate, or affect any motor vehicle sales; those sales all occurred regardless of how the customers’ payments were deposited. App. 152–53, 160–61 (Hrg. Tr. 24:22–25:5 & 32:20–33:10).

Neither Carreras nor Los Primos has a disciplinary record with the Department. App. 150 (Hrg. Tr. 22:2–6). Indeed, Los Primos has a strong history of satisfied customers. In thirteen years of business, only one

customer has complained about a vehicle purchased at Los Primos. That complaint was ultimately dismissed, and Los Primos is still working with that customer. App. 149–50, 158 (Hrg. Tr. 21:5–22:1 & 30:2–19).

In 2017, Carreras was charged with multiple federal financial crimes arising from the manner in which money was deposited into the Los Primos bank accounts. On September 6, 2018, he entered a guilty plea to one count of structuring in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(1) and (a)(3), based on money from vehicle sales that was deposited into Los Primos' bank accounts. App. 29, 105–116. Carreras' guilty plea was pursuant to a written plea agreement, and the government dismissed all other charges against him at the time of his sentencing. App. 105–116. In January 2019, the federal district court sentenced Carreras to a term of probation for the structuring conviction. App. 29, 121–27.

In April 2019, the Department issued an official notice that it was revoking the Appellants' motor vehicle dealer license based on Carreras' federal conviction for structuring currency deposits. App. 128. This judicial review proceeding ensued.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE DEPARTMENT’S INTERPRETATION OF IOWA CODE § 322.3(12) IS INCORRECT, AND THE LICENSE REVOCATION CANNOT STAND WHEN THE STATUTE IS CORRECTLY INTERPRETED.**

#### **A. Error Preservation.**

The Appellants’ challenge to the Department’s interpretation of Iowa Code § 322.3(12) was central to Appellants’ request for relief from the district court. *E.g.*, App. 191–200, 217–35, 249–55. The district court addressed this legal issue in its Order on Judicial Review. App. 259–62.

#### **B. Standard of Review.**

When reviewing the district court’s decision in a judicial review proceeding, this Court applies the standards of Iowa Code Chapter 17A. *Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc.*, 814 N.W.2d 512, 518 (Iowa 2012). If after applying those standards this Court reaches a different conclusion than the district court, it must reverse the judgment below. *Id.*

Neither this Court nor the district court is bound by the Department’s interpretation of the law and may substitute its own interpretation for that of the agency. *Des Moines Area Reg’l Transit Auth. v. Young*, 867 N.W.2d 839, 842 (Iowa 2015); *Grant v. Iowa Dep’t of Hum. Servs.*, 722 N.W.2d 169, 173 (Iowa 2006); *accord* Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(b) (authorizing relief



from an agency decision that is “in violation of any provision of law”); *id.* § 17A.19(10)(c) (authorizing relief from any agency decision that is “[b]ased upon an erroneous interpretation of a provision of law whose interpretation has not been clearly vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency.”). The Department has not been statutorily authorized to interpret the relevant statute here, but even it were so authorized, then the Court would review the Department’s interpretation to determine if it is “irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable.” Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(l). An agency’s interpretation of a statute is “irrational, illogical, and wholly unjustifiable” when it “extends, enlarges, or otherwise changes the legislative intent” of the statute, which is derived by using normal rules of statutory construction. *Doe v. Iowa Dep’t of Hum. Servs.*, 786 N.W.2d 853, 858 & 860 (Iowa 2010).

**C. Carreras’ Conviction For Structuring Currency Deposits Was Not “In Connection With Selling Or Other Activity Related To Motor Vehicles,” As Required Under Iowa Code § 322.3(12).**

The central legal dispute in this case is how to interpret the words “in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles” in Iowa Code § 322.3(12). Drilling it down, the fighting issue is the meaning of “in connection with” in the context of that statute. No Iowa case has addressed

when a conviction is “in connection with selling ... motor vehicles” under section 322.3(12), and the Legislature provided no definition for that phrase.

The meaning of that phrase is neither obvious, self-evident, nor clearly established. *E.g.*, *United States v. Wyatt*, 102 F.3d 241, 247 (7th Cir. 1996) (“[N]o simple judicial formula can adequately capture the precise contours of the ‘in connection with’ requirement”); *United States v. Thompson*, 32 F.3d 1, 5–6 (1st Cir. 1994) (noting that “it is difficult to sketch the outer boundaries of this link”).<sup>2</sup> As discussed below, there are two interpretations of section 322.3(12) that are reasonable when the Court considers how “in connection with” is commonly used in similar contexts, how other courts have defined “in connection with,” and the overall purpose of Iowa Code Chapter 322. Under either of these interpretations, the Department’s action must be reversed.

---

<sup>2</sup> The Department has quoted *Irving v. Emp. Appeal Bd.*, 883 N.W.2d 179, 185 (Iowa 2016), for the proposition that “in connection with” is not “not alien to the legal lexicon.” *See* App. 244. However, the point of that statement was to reject an administrative agency’s claim to have special expertise as to the interpretation of “in connection with” in a different statute. If it has any bearing here, *Irving* means that no deference is owed to the Department on the meaning of the revocation statute (§ 322.3(12)). *Irving* did not address the statute here, and it did not hold that the meaning of “in connection with” is obvious or clearly established.

1. Carreras' Conviction Was Not "In Connection With" Selling Motor Vehicles Because The Conviction Did Not Concern The Source Of The Deposited Funds.

The ALJ thoroughly reviewed legal and non-legal authorities using the phrase "in connection with" and then had an "a-ha moment" from this definition: "With reference to; concerning." App. 32 (quoting [https://www.lexico.com/definition/in\\_connection\\_with](https://www.lexico.com/definition/in_connection_with)).<sup>3</sup> The ALJ concluded this definition was "superior" to many alternatives because it best captured the way that "in connection with" is used context of a criminal conviction. App. 32–33. The ALJ described this "interpretive clue":

The construction follows a simple template: so-and-so was convicted of *x* in connection with *y*, where *y* = a plain statement of facts and *x* = an obvious criminal charge that would flow from those facts. For example: "Frank was convicted of manslaughter in connection with Sharrine's death." *In re Wilson's Estate*, 202 N.W.2d 41, 42 (Iowa 1972). "Fisher was convicted of murder in connection with the death of his girlfriend." *More v. State*, 880 N.W.2d 487, 503 (Iowa 2016). "Appellant Wayne E. Ates (Ates) was convicted of grand larceny in connection with the theft of a camera belonging to Thomas Paull (Paull)." *State v. Ates*, 377 S.E.2d 98, 98 (S.C. 1989). "The respondent was convicted of criminal offenses in connection with a conspiracy to defraud an insurance carrier." *In re Perwin*, 287 A.2d 3, 3 (N.J. 1972). This appears to be the

---

<sup>3</sup> This definition came from Lexico.com, which is a collaboration between Dictionary.com and the Oxford University Press to help users with everyday language challenges. See Lexico, *About*, available at: [www.lexico.com/about](http://www.lexico.com/about).

most common way “convicted of . . . in connection with . . .” is used.

App. 33. Under this definition, a conviction is in connection with selling motor vehicles only if the conviction concerned or was with respect to selling motor vehicles. That definition is consistent with common meaning and usage, which must guide this Court’s interpretation of Iowa Code § 322.3(12). *See State v. Shorter*, 945 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2020) (“If the legislature does not provide a definition, ‘we look to the context in which the term appears and give it its ordinary and common meaning.’” (internal citation omitted)); *see also Gardin v. Long Beach Mortg. Co.*, 661 N.W.2d 193, 197 (Iowa 2003) (“When the legislature has not defined words of a statute, we look to prior decisions of this court and others, similar statutes, dictionary definitions, and common usage.”); *State v. Alexander*, 853 N.W.2d 295, 298 (Iowa Ct. App. 2014) (“If any individual term is not defined by the legislature, we may rely on its common meaning.”).

The district court sidestepped the ALJ’s interpretive analysis by grossly misconstruing the ALJ’s proposed decision. The Order on Judicial Review stated: “The ALJ concluded that *despite the plain language of section 322.3(12)*, structuring deposits sourced solely from vehicle sale proceeds was not *connected to* selling or other activity related to motor

vehicles as required by chapter 322.” App. 257 (emphasis supplied). However, the ALJ did not reach its conclusion *despite* the plain language of section 322.3(12). Nor did the ALJ draw a conclusion about whether the structuring crime was *connected to* selling motor vehicles. To the contrary, the ALJ clearly and forcefully concluded that the plain meaning of “in connection with” is not “connected to”:

Most suspect are the cases that do little more than refer to a dictionary definition of “connect” or “connection.” *See, e.g., United States v. Thompson*, 32 F.3d 1, 5–6 (1st Cir. 1994) (“causal or logical relation or sequence”); *Hirsch*, 550 B.R. at 140 (“causal or logical relation or sequence” or “the state of being connected or joined”); *Bews*, 868 P.2d at 349 (“a relationship or association in thought”). Common usage instructs that “in connection with” does not have the same meaning. Consider these logical relations the undersigned has with Mr. Carreras: we both work in Des Moines, we both (presumably) live in or near Des Moines, we both speak at least a few words of Spanish, and we both appeared for the hearing on this matter. We are connected by all those details. Yet no one would say, in common usage, that we work, live, or speak “in connection with” one another. At most one would say we appeared “in connection with” one another for the hearing, although even that strains common usage. The relationship of “connection” to “in connection with” is the linguistic analog to squares and rectangles: all in-connection-withs are connections, but not all connections are “in connection with.” To elide the two rewrites the statutory text in a way that invites absurd results.

App. 30.

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