#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### NO. 20-0963

### J. JESUS CARRERAS and LOS PRIMOS AUTO SALES, L.L.C., d/b/a LOS PRIMOS SALES

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

VS.

# IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, MOTOR VEHICLE DIVISION,

**Defendant-Appellee.** 

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JEANIE VAUDT

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MICHELLE E. RABE
Assistant Attorney General
Iowa Attorney General's Office
800 Lincoln Way, Ames, Iowa 50010
(515) 239-1178 / FAX (515) 239-1609
michelle.rabe@iowadot.us
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PETITIONER CARRERAS' STRUCTURING CONVICTION WAS IN CONNECTION WITH SELLING OR OTHER ACTIVITY INVOLVING MOTOR VEHICLES.

#### **Error Preservation**

This issue was presented to the district court and plaintiffs' notice of appeal from the decision of the district court was timely filed. Therefore, plaintiffs are correct in their assertion that error has been preserved as to this issue.

# **Scope of Review**

When exercising its power of judicial review of agency action, the district court functions in an appellate capacity to correct errors of law by the agency. *Northwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n*, 359 N.W.2d 491, 492 (Iowa 1984); *Willett v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 572 N.W.2d 172, 173-174 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997) (citing *Teleconnect v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n*, 404 N.W.2d 158, 161-62 (Iowa 1987)).

In the review of the district court's action, the Iowa appellate courts "merely apply the standards of section [17A.19(10)] to the agency action to determine whether [the] conclusions [of the appellate court] are the same as those of the district court." *Northwestern Bell Telephone Co.*, 359 N.W.2d at 492; *Willett*, 572 N.W.2d at 174.

The appellate court should not interfere on judicial review unless it finds the petitioners carried their burden of proof as a matter of law. *Heidemann v. Sweitzer*, 375 N.W.2d 665, 670 (Iowa 1985). The licensee's burden of proof is to show "compliance with all lawful requirements for the retention of the license." *Mary v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 382 N.W.2d 128, 132 (Iowa 1986). The heavy burden of proving a lack of substantial evidence is on the driver. *Missman v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 653 N.W.2d 363, 367 (Iowa 2002); *Lee v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 693 N.W.2d 342 (Iowa 2005). This Court need only scrutinize the record to see if there is substantial evidence supporting the agency's decision.

Pursuant to Iowa Code section 322.1, "[t]he administration of this chapter shall be vested with the director of the state department of transportation." Petitioner Carreras' motor vehicle dealer's license was revoked pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 322. In fact, as the underlying facts

surrounding petitioner's conviction are not in dispute, the record evidence could fail to support the agency action in this matter **only** if a reviewing court were to examine the relevant statutes and hold as a matter of law that the agency's actions exceeded its statutory authority and unjustifiably applied law to fact. *See Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 784 N.W.2d 8, 10-11 (Iowa 2010); *Good v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm'n*, 368 N.W.2d 151, 155 (Iowa 1985).

The resolution of the issue at hand involves the agency's application of law to the facts. The legislature clearly vested the agency with the application of the law to the facts. We are required to give the agency appropriate deference because the legislature vested the application of the law to the facts with the agency. *Id.* §17A.19(11)(c). We give the agency the appropriate deference by only reversing or modifying the agency action "upon an irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable application of law to fact."

Drake University v. Davis, 769 N.W.2d 176, 182 (Iowa 2009).

Just as this Court held in *Drake*, above, so does the case at hand rest on the agency's application of law to the facts. Since this matter has been properly vested by law with the agency, it follows that, pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.19(11)(c), deference is to be given to the agency's decision. Thus, reversal is appropriate only if the agency's application of the law was irrational, illogical or wholly unjustifiable.

#### **Argument**

Petitioner's conviction for structuring and the facts underlying it are directly and solely connected to vehicle sales and/or proceeds from the dealership he owns. The respondent's subsequent revocation of the petitioner's motor vehicle dealer's license was statutorily mandated by Iowa Code 322.3(12), which provides as follows:

#### 322.3. Prohibited acts. . .

12. A person who has been convicted of a fraudulent practice, has been convicted of three or more violations of section 321.92, subsection 2, or section 321.99, has been convicted of three or more violations of subsection 16 of this section in the previous three-year period, or has been convicted of any other indictable offense in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles, in this state or any other state, shall not for a period of five years from the date of conviction be an owner, salesperson, employee, officer of a corporation, or representative of a licensed motor vehicle dealer or represent themselves as an owner, salesperson, employee, officer of a corporation, or representative of a licensed motor vehicle dealer.

#### Emphasis added.

Iowa Code section 322.3(12) is clear and unambiguous on its face in barring individuals convicted of any crime connected to the selling of motor vehicles from holding a dealer license. Petitioner was convicted of knowingly structuring deposits into his business account(s) in amounts less

than \$10,000 each so as to avoid reporting requirements. This conviction is directly connected to vehicle sales at Los Primos Auto. Petitioner's argument to the contrary is not only illogical but entirely lacking in legal merit.

The term "in connection with" is not a term of legal art requiring indepth analysis to decipher its meaning or the legislative intent behind it. It is an unambiguous term appearing numerous times in the Iowa Code. Black's Law Dictionary 274 (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1979) defines connection as simply "[t]he state of being connected or joined." As the Iowa Supreme Court held in *Irving v*. Employment Appeal Bd., 883 N.W.2d 179, 185 (Iowa 2016), "[w]ords and phrases like 'voluntary,' 'misconduct,' 'employer,' and connection with' are not alien to the legal lexicon. These terms are not complex or beyond the competency of courts." (Emphasis added). See also SZ Enters., LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 850 N.W.2d 441, 445 (Iowa 2014) (discussing the interpretation of "terms that do not on their face appear to be technical in nature").

The Iowa Supreme Court has examined the phrase "in connection with" on more than one occasion, holding that "in the absence of a legislative definition, we note that the phrase 'in connection with' is

commonly defined as 'related to, linked to, or associated with'." *State ex rel. Miller v. Cutty's Des Moines Camping Club*, 694 N.W.2d 518, 526 (Iowa 2005), *citing Metropolitan Property and Casualty Ins. Co. v. Fitchburg Mut. Ins. Co.*, 793 N.E.2d 1252, 1255 (Mass. Ct. App. 2003). The Court in *Cutty's* went on to hold "[in connection with] plainly has a broader reach than the phrases 'arising out of' and 'contained in," concluding that one "need only show some relation or nexus between the two." *Id.* at 526; discussing *Metropolitan Property*, 793 N.E.2d at 1255, and Black's Law Dictionary (8<sup>th</sup> ed. 2004) at 1070, defining "nexus" as "[a] connection of link, often a causal one."

Petitioner in the case at hand is asking this Court to engage in legal gymnastics in order to overturn the district court's decision and attach a nonsensical meaning to a commonsense term. Each and every one of the nearly 400 deposits listed in petitioner's indictment was connected to the business account of Los Primos Auto Sales to which the appellant and his wife were the sole authorized signers. These deposits totaled over 1.7 million dollars of proceeds in less than 2½ years. Since the entire basis for the appellant's conviction was based on, and only on, proceeds directly derived from vehicle sales at his dealership, it follows that the entire basis

for the resulting revocation was directly and unequivocally connected to the selling of motor vehicles. Petitioner's motor vehicle dealership was not only connected to the crime, it was the mechanism for it. It was the sole means by which the criminal activity occurred; but for the dealership proceeds, there would have been no crime. Thus, the dealership was more than 'related to' or even 'integral to' the crime; it was the means by which the criminal activity was conducted, and petitioner's argument to the contrary is absurd.

The district court correctly concluded that "Petitioners' argument that Petitioner Carreras' conviction is not in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles is illogical and unsupported by the relevant law." App. at 261.

Their insistence that their illegal structuring activities came after the motor vehicle sales, thereby severing the connection of these activities to motor vehicle sales, is a distinction without a difference for two reasons. First, section 322.3(12) merely requires the activity within its reach to be "in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles." This provision does not, as Petitioners argue, require the activity at issue to occur "at the time of" or "simultaneous to" the sale of motor vehicles. If a bright-line temporal rule was what the Legislature intended (which is essentially what Petitioners argue here), the Legislature would have said so. It did not. And, the court will not superinscribe such a provision. Doing so would require the court to engage in statutory construction that

would violate well-established construction canons and conflict with the liberal interpretation the court must give chapter 322.

*Id.*; App. at 261.

As respondent argued and the district court agreed, the petitioner's motor vehicle dealership was not only connected to the crime, it was the mechanism for it. The dealership was more than related to or even integral to the crime; it was the **means** by which the criminal activity was conducted. It is undisputed that all of the structured deposits came from vehicle sales at Los Primos which were subsequently deposited into the Carrerras' business accounts. But for the petitioner's dealership and the sale of vehicles therefrom, there would have been no crime. The district court agreed and was correct in holding as follows:

Since the entire basis for Petitioner Carreras' federal conviction was structuring proceeds directly derived from motor vehicle sales at his dealership, it follows that the entire basis for the resulting state motor vehicle dealer license revocation was in connection with his selling of motor vehicles at his dealership. Petitioner Los Primos Auto Sales was not only connected to the crime; it was the mechanism for it. Selling motor vehicles was the sole means by which the criminal activity Petitioner Carreras pleaded guilty to occurred. But for the dealership proceeds accumulated by Petitioner Carreras through selling motor vehicles, there could have been no crime.

Thus, the dealership was far more than merely 'related to' or even 'integral to' the crime. Petitioner Carreras selling motor vehicles through the dealership was the means by which the criminal activity was conducted, and the money derived therefrom was the money that Petitioner Carreras, through his wife, structured in violation of federal law. Thus, the court finds the agency correctly found that (1) the facts underlying Petitioner Carreras' federal conviction are directly in connection with selling motor vehicles and/or proceeds derived therefrom (other activity relating to motor vehicles) from the dealership Petitioner Carreras owns, and (2) the resulting revocation of Petitioners' state motor vehicle dealer license by Respondent was mandated by chapter 322 and was correct as a matter of law.

App. at 261-262.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE AGENCY'S ACTION IN REVOKING PETITONER CARRERAS' MOTOR VEHICLE DEALER'S LICENSE WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE.

#### **Error Preservation**

Respondent does not dispute petitioners' assertion that error has been preserved as to this issue.

#### **Standard of Review**

The standard of review set forth in Argument I, above, is hereby adopted in its entirety and incorporated herein as if set forth in full.

# **Argument**

Petitioner makes much of the reviewing officer's characterization of the underlying conviction as "inherently fraudulent and deceptive." The crime of structuring deposits to avoid federal reporting requirements is by its very nature deceptive. It is a crime of dishonesty which involves deliberate action and intent.

Petitioner attempts to remove his conduct from the purview of this statute by asserting it was neither dishonest, deceptive nor fraudulent, and that he has a "stellar reputation." Respondent must respectfully disagree. Once petitioner began using the dealership as a means to launder money and/or "structure" deposits, his conduct was, at a minimum, dishonest and deceptive and, thus, falls directly within the conduct prohibited under Chapter 322. Thus, the reviewing officer was correct in holding as follows:

Clearly section 322.3(12) [as well as section 322.6(1)(d), which uses almost identical language to deny the application for a motor vehicle dealer license] was designed to shield the general public. The overriding purpose of Chapter 322 is to protect consumers of motor vehicles from fraud and deception. State v. Miner, 331 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa 1983). The federal crime of structuring is inherently fraudulent and deceptive. It is not irrational for the State to seek a comprehensive means of eliminating all potential fraud and deception and afford protection for both the buyer and the seller of the vehicle. Id. at 689. The respondent has a duty to safeguard vehicle buyers and

sellers from dealers who have been convicted of a felony expressly fueled by auto sales. The appellant has been convicted of an indictable offense in connection with selling or other activity relating to motor vehicles.

App. at 8.

Iowa Code section 322.15 mandates the liberal construction of Iowa Code Chapter 322, which includes Iowa Code section 322.2(12). In Iowa Code section 322.15(1), in the interest of public protection, the Iowa legislature took the extra precaution of mandating that all provisions of the chapter "shall be liberally construed to the end that the practice or commission of fraud in the sale, barter, or disposition of motor vehicles at retail in this state may be prohibited and prevented, and irresponsible, unreliable, or dishonest persons may be prevented from engaging in the business of selling, bartering, or otherwise dealing in motor vehicles at retail in this state..."

The purpose of Iowa Code section 322.15 is to protect the public and broaden the application of the mandates of Chapter 322, not to create any sort of additional hurdle to or burden on administrative action. The Iowa Supreme Court has examined this issue and reiterated that the purpose of these provisions is to protect the public. *See State v. Miner*, 331 N.W.2d 683

(Iowa 1983) (the legislative intent is to provide maximum protection to the consumers of motor vehicles) and *State v. Lindsey*, 165 N.W.2d 807 (Iowa 1969) (even a single act may substantiate adverse action on a license where the primary purpose of the legislation is to protect the public).

It defies logic to argue that the crime of structuring, *i.e.*, knowingly organizing deposits so as to avoid reporting rules, is not an act of dishonesty. There is no way to "honestly" commit the crime of structuring. There is certainly a public protection interest in prohibiting individuals convicted of knowingly mishandling vehicle sale proceeds from owning and operating the dealership which is providing them the means to do so. This is consistent not only with the mandates of Iowa Code section 322.15, but also of section 322.3(12) and all relevant case law.

This argument is ultimately of no consequence as Iowa Code section 322.3(12) does not require a finding of fraud or deception; rather, the issue turns on whether the conviction is "in connection with selling or other activity related to motor vehicles" as a predicate for mandatory revocation, as discussed in detail in Argument I, above. Further, despite petitioner's characterization to the contrary, the reviewing officer merely mentions in one sentence that "the federal crime of structuring is inherently fraudulent"

and deceptive" as part of a much larger thorough legal examination of the applicability of Iowa Code section 322.3(12) to this case. It is clear from the ruling, and the district court's subsequent affirmation of that ruling, that the agency's holding did not turn on any finding regarding the inherently deceptive nature of a structuring conviction, nor is such a finding required in order to impose the mandatory five-year revocation under Iowa Code section 322.3(12).

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT EXCEED ITS AUTHORITY IN TOLLING THE FIVE-YEAR REVOCATION PERIOD UNDER IOWA CODE SECTION 322.3(12).

#### **Error Preservation**

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